IN	THE SUPREME	COURT OF	£		,
RUFUS E.	STEVENS,	Appella	) nt, )	CLER By	Dopaty CIA	$\checkmark$
<b>v</b> STATE OF	FLORIDA,		) ) )	ĥοs.	68,581 <sup>U</sup> & 69,	112
		Appellee	⊇. ) )		1.1	

ON APPEAL FROM ORDERS OF THE CIRCUIT COURT, FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA, WHICH DENIED POST-CONVICTION AND RELATED RELIEF

# APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Oren Root Jr. Patrick M. Wall, Esq. A Professional Corporation 36 West 44th Street New York, New York 10036 212 840-7188

Attorney for Appellant

Patrick M. Wall Of Counsel

1 \_\_\_\_\_

1-171

1 1 ....

1

#

#### I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appeal No. 68,581 is (1) from a March 12, 1986 order of Hon. John E. Santora, Jr., of the Fourth Judicial Circuit Court, Duval County, which denied in its entirety Appellant Rufus E. Stevens' Amended Motion for Post-Conviction Relief made pursuant to Rule 3.850, Fla. R. Crim. P., and (2) from other orders made in the course of the post-conviction proceedings. Stevens had challenged his conviction and his death sentence claiming, <u>inter alia</u>, ineffective assistance of counsel at both trial and sentencing,' his lack of opportunity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Stevens will soon be filing with this Court a petition for a writ of habeas corpus, challenging the ineffective assistance of counsel rendered him on the direct appeal (No. 57,738) of his conviction. The same attorney who represented Stevens at trial represented him on his original appeal to

to review the presentence investigation and a psychiatrist's report --- both of which were relied upon by Judge Santora in imposing sentence and both of which contained serious errors--- and the prosecution's failure to reveal information which would have provided trial counsel with the basis for obtaining the suppression of one of the two pieces of evidence which appeared to link Stevens to participation in the actual killing of the decedent. We continue to press those and other grounds for relief. In addition, we maintain that Judge Santora's failure to grant our motion to disqualify himself from conducting the post-conviction hearing not only violated statutory and case law which required his recusal but also resulted in an unfair proceeding and a seriously biased order denying the relief sought.

Stevens' application for clemency is pending before the Governor and the Cabinet. No warrant for his execution has ever been signed.

Consolidated Appeal No. 69,112 is from a July 9, 1986 order of Judge Santora denying <u>pro bono</u> counsel for Stevens reimbursement of their out-of-pocket expenses incurred during the post-conviction proceedings. This Court has jurisdiction of both appeals. Art. V, \$3(b)(1), Fla. Const.

this Court --- thereby compounding the serious errors and omissions which pervaded the trial and sentencing proceedings in the court below.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>2</sup>

Stevens was arrested on March 20, 1979 for the murder a week earlier of Eleanor Kathy Tolin, and he and Gregory Scott Engle were indicted for murder in the first degree on April 5, 1979 (R 1).<sup>3</sup> On March 26, 1979 John R. Forbes of Jacksonville was appointed by Judge Santora to represent Stevens, who was insolvent (RDA 6).

A hearing was had on July 5, 1979 on Stevens' motion to suppress and motion in <u>limine</u> ··· both of which sought to exclude statements made by him (TT 12-189). Stevens' trial before a jury began on July 16, 1979 and resulted in a verdict of guilty of murder in the first degree on July 20 (TT 192-1191). After a short penalty hearing the following day, the jury recommended that Stevens be sentenced to 25 years to **life** in prison (TT 1196-1295). On August 17, 1979 Judge Santora

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A comprehensive statement of all the motions and other proceedings in this matter would be unduly lengthy. We therefore give the Court an overview of the relevant proceedings. Other proceedings are discussed below when relevant to the presentation of our arguments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Parenthetical references preceded by "R" and "SR" are to the appropriate pages of the record and supplemental record (respectively) on Appeal No. 68,581; those preceded by "RDA" are to the record on the direct appeal, No. 57,738; those preceded by "RCA" are to the record on consolidated appeal, No. 69,112; those preceded by "T" are to the stenographer's transcript in the post-conviction proceeding; and those preceded by "TT" are to the stenographer's transcript of the trial, sentence and related proceedings.

ignored the jury's recommendation and imposed a sentence of death (TT 1298-1307).<sup>4</sup>

Judge Santora appointed Forbes to handle Stevens' direct appeal (RDA 110). This Court affirmed the conviction and sentence on September 14, 1982. <u>Stevens v. State</u>, 419 So. 2d 1058 (Fla. 1982). Justice McDonald, joined by Justice Overton, dissented as to the sentence, finding that there had been a rational basis for the jury's recommendation. <u>Id.</u> at 1065.<sup>5</sup> Review by the United States Supreme Court was denied on February 22, 1983. <u>Stevens v. Florida</u>, 459 U.S. 1228 (1983).<sup>6</sup>

Stevens thereafter sought clemency from his death sentence.<sup>7</sup> A hearing before the Governor and the Cabinet was

<sup>5</sup> Following this Court's affirmance of the conviction, present pro bono counsel began representing Stevens.

<sup>6</sup> On Engle's direct appeal to this Court his conviction was affirmed but his death sentence was vacated because Judge Santora had unconstitutionally relied upon Stevens' statements implicating Engle. <u>Engle v. State</u>, 438 So. 2d 803 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 465 U.S. 1074 (1984).

 $^7\,$  A substantial excerpt from his clemency brief is set forth at R 149-68.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Engle moved for and was granted a separate trial on the ground that Stevens had made statements which incriminated Engle. Engle was tried in May of 1979 and found guilty of murder in the first degree. The jury recommended life imprisonment. Engle moved for and was granted a separate sentencing hearing based upon his rights under <u>Bruton v.</u> <u>United States</u>, 391 U.S. 123 (1968). On August 17, 1979 Engle also was sentenced to death by Judge Santora.

held on March 21, 1984. The application for clemency is still pending.

On March 22, 1984 Stevens filed a Motion for Post-Conviction Relief (R 12-195) in the Circuit Court. On November 8, 1984 an Amended Motion for Post-Conviction Relief (R 252-493) was filed. A Supplement to the Amended Motion was filed on January 22, 1985 (R 515-50). A hearing was held on the Amended Motion and the Supplement thereto on November 9, 1984 and January 23, 24 and 25, 1985 (T 154-959). On March 12, 1986 Judge Santora denied Stevens' motion in all respects (R 629-39).

# III. STATEMENT OF FACTS<sup>8</sup>

Eleanor Kathy Tolin, a clerk in a convenience store, was robbed, kidnapped, raped and killed in Jacksonville in the early morning hours of March 13, 1979. As to these facts there was essentially no dispute. Stevens confessed that he participated in the robbery, kidnapping and rape-(TT 898-918). He stated, however, that Engle, and Engle alone, killed Tolin (TT 923-24). The crucial factual issue at the trial therefore

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> As was true with the procedural history above, we set forth here only an overview of the facts of the case. Specific facts relevant to the points we make are discussed below as part of the arguments to which they are related.

was whether Stevens was a participant in, and responsible for, Tolin's killing.

There were but two pieces of circumstantial evidence which even tended to show some connection between Stevens and the actual killing, and both were admitted in violation of Stevens' constitutional rights.

The first was testimony elicited from Nathan Hamilton, who turned Stevens and Engle in to the authorities.<sup>9</sup> Hamilton testified that <u>Engle<sup>10</sup></u> told him the following, among other things (TT 578): "... Rufus went crazy and started saying she's [Tolin's] going to identify us ...." The prosecutor characterized this statement --- which he referred to as the "most accurate" evidence in the case, even more accurate than Stevens' entire statements to the police (TT 1127) --- as meaning: "... let's kill her so she can't identify us" (TT 1139).

The second item of circumstantial evidence tending to link Stevens to the actual killing was a dull knife found under Stevens trailer (TT 677-78).<sup>11</sup> The knife was testified

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> At least a significant part of Hamilton's motivation was an outstanding \$5,000 reward (see Parmenter deposition pp. 5-6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Engle's statement as repeated by Hamilton clearly should have been excluded in accordance with Bruton v. United States, supra. See pp. 39-40, <u>infra</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The knife was found as a direct result of postindictment statements elicited by the police in clear violation of Stevens' constitutional right to counsel. In viola-

by the medical examiner to be consistent with a bruise found on Tolin's back --- caused by an apparent attempt to stab her (TT 800-01). In his summation the prosecutor referred to the dull knife again and again, linking the attempted stab wound on the back to the knife found under Stevens' trailer. See, e.g., TT 1115, TT 1121.

#### IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Despite the tremendous number of appeals --- direct and collateral --- that this Court must consider each year in capital cases, this matter is a particularly disturbing one. Stevens' principal claims in his post-conviction motion in the Circuit Court revolved around the ineffective assistance of counsel he received both at trial and sentencing.

Had counsel at trial been effective, he would have been able to have the largest portion of the State's case excluded on constitutional grounds. Stevens' detailed confession to involvement in the robbery, kidnapping and rape which preceded the homicide should have been excluded upon two grounds based upon the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, §12 of the Florida Constitution.

tion of <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), the prosecution suppressed the evidence which proved that the dull knife had been found as a result of Stevens' unconstitutionally-obtained statements. See Point Five, infra.

Counsel, however, never sought suppression on either of these grounds. Significantly, Stevens' confession denied any responsibility for the killing which he said was committed solely by Engle. The evidence<sup>12</sup> which principally connected Stevens to the killing --- a statement Engle allegedly made to a mutual friend --- was admitted without objection despite the fact that it was clearly inadmissible pursuant to <u>Bruton v.</u> <u>United States</u>, <u>supra</u>. The only other evidence which had even a slight tendency to connect Stevens to the killing, a dull knife found under his trailer, was admitted after the State suppressed information --- in violation of its due process obligations pursuant to <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, **373** U.S. **83 (1963)** --- which, had counsel been effective, would have enabled him to convince the trial court to exclude such evidence.

At sentencing it appears from the record that counsel either threw in the towel when he learned that the judge was going to impose a death sentence or unjustifiably thought that there was no reason to worry about a death sentence because the jury had recommended life -imprisonment. Whichever explanation applies, counsel --- and we are not exaggerating --- did not do one single thing nor say one single word to seek a life sentence following the jury's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The State in summation characterized this evidence as the "most accurate" in the case --- more important even than Stevens' detailed confession because that statement did not connect him to the killing (TT 1127).

recommendation. In brief, Stevens' attorney failed to discover and present a tremendous amount of readily-available mitigation evidence and failed to have excluded very prejudicial unconstitutionally-admitted evidence used to support several aggravating circumstances.

While we submit that there is little doubt that counsel's deficiencies created a clear breakdown in the adversarial process which left him with a conviction and death sentence --- neither of which likely would have occurred had counsel been effective --- we recognize that this Court hears numerous such claims. Disturbing as such claims are, when valid, none could strike at the fabric of our system of law more deeply than what occurred in this case during the postconviction proceedings in the Circuit Court.

The trial attorney, John Forbes, recognizing that he had committed a number of serious blunders and had been deficient in numerous aspects of his representation, decided to lie about why he had chosen, or failed to choose, certain courses of action. In our view the majority of Forbes' testimony on contested points is perjurious. We came to this conclusion most reluctantly. Certainly in light of the obligations he owes a tribunal, an attorney should be presumed, absent evidence to the contrary, to be truthful. We were forced to wrestle time and again, however, with skepti-

cism that that presumption was applicable to Forbes' testimony. We carefuly considered whether the erroneous tesitmony could possibly be the product of an honest mistake or a lapse in memory. The more we analyzed the evidence, however, the more we doubted that the errors could be ascribed to innocent causes. The errors occurred too many times and in circumstances which ruled out any explanation other than that Forbes was deliberately not telling the **truth.**<sup>13</sup>

The conclusive instances of perjury set forth below are significant not so much because of the topics about which Forbes lied but because they have eliminated the presumption of truthfulness which would otherwise have cloaked the balance of his testimony. If Forbes were willing to deliberately lie

<sup>13</sup> Deliberate lying is convincingly proven in the following instances: (1) Forbes pretended not to remember the circumstances surrounding his being given (just hours before he testified at the post-conviction hearing) a copy of Bruton v. United States (see pp. 47-48, infra); (2) Forbes contended that he wanted to fortify the credibility of one of the two principal prosecution witnesses when in fact he had attacked that witness's credibility on numerous occasions (see pp. 61-65, infra); (3) In the eleven days between his deposition and his hearing testimony, Forbes categorically changed his testimony concerning his note-taking practices and why he had destroyed every note in his file in this case (see pp. 72-74, infra); (4) Forbes claimed to have investigated the facts of Stevens' prior criminal record, but then not only failed to correct others' mistakes concerning that record but also mischaracterized that information himself in a manner detrimental to his client (see pp. 106-08, infra); and (5) Forbes professed that he welcomed as helpful to Stevens the prosecution's presentation of a witness at the penalty stage who testified that, two months before the crime for which Stevens was convicted, he had raped her at knifepoint in the same woods to which Tolin was abducted (see pp. 114-16, infra).

on more than one occasion, how can one believe that the rest of his testimony --- particularly testimony which on its face strains one's credulity --- is truthful? We therefore request that this Court keep in mind while considering this appeal that Forbes' word --- most unfortunately --- cannot be trusted.

Compounding the most serious problem of Forbes' perjury is the fact that the trial judge failed to disqualify himself, when requested to do so because, inter alia, of his long and particularly close relationship with Forbes. Judge Santora, who had originally handpicked Forbes to represent Stevens, leaned over backwards to prevent present defense counsel from making inquiries in areas which would have embarrassed Forbes. No matter how incredible Forbes' testimony was, Judge Santora always found it to be credible. In addition to his close ties to Forbes, Judge Santora also was clearly biased against Stevens, having taken an extrajudicial position that Stevens should be shown no mercy and that he was particularly deserving of being executed. Because of his close ties to Forbes and because of his bias against Stevens, Judge Santora conducted an unfair hearing and, far more importantly, decided Stevens' claims unfairly. Without regard for the facts and the fair inferences to be drawn from the evidence before him, the judge uniformly denied each and every claim made and item of relief sought.

We recognize the seriousness of our charges and the extremely natural reluctance to accept them unless they are convincingly proven. We know, however, that this Court will consider this necessarily extremely lengthy brief with minds and hearts open to our arguments so that it can fairly determine whether the facts support our claims --- as we have no doubt that they do. The stakes, of course, are high. Rufus Stevens' life hangs in the balance.

### V. ARGUMENT

#### POINT ONE

### JUDGE SANTORA IMPROPERLY FAILED TO RECUSE HIMSELF AND CONDUCTED THE HEARING AND DECIDED THE FACTS IN A BIASED MANNER

### A. Introduction

Before the hearing Stevens made a motion to disqualify Judge Santora.<sup>14</sup> That motion, which met all the procedural requirements of Rule 3.230, Fla. R. Crim. P. was denied on November 6, 1984. That denial was fundamentally at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>. The motion also sought the assignment of a new judge by a random selection process (R 218-21) rather than a handpicked choice of a substitute by the Chief Judge. Since the time of the hearing in this matter, Judge Santora has become Chief Judge of the Fourth Circuit.

odds with more than 50 years of Florida law and denied Stevens his federal and state due process rights to a fair hearing. See V, XIV Amends., U.S. Const.; Art. I, §9, Fla. Const.; <u>State v. Steele</u>, 348 So, 2d 398, 401 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977). Not only did Judge Santora's denial of the motion for disqualification thwart the law requiring his recusal, but the manner in which he conducted the hearing and decided the issues raised by the post-conviction motion demonstrated his strong bias. Judge Santora's failure to recuse himself therefore resulted in an unfair hearing with biased findings and conclusions, many of which are clearly at odds with the applicable facts and law.

#### B. The Facts

### 1, The Grounds for Disqualification'

### a. The Judge's Relationship with Forbes

A central issue underlying much of Steven's motion for post-conviction relief was the effectiveness of his trial

 $<sup>^{15}</sup>$ . In addition to the three grounds for disqualification discussed below, Stevens contended (R 218, R 225-26) that Judge Santora was fatally prejudiced because of his prior reliance in imposing the death sentence on constitutionally improper evidence. Stevens also stated (R 218) his intention to call Judge Santora as a witness at the post-conviction hearing. The latter ground was withdrawn by a letter from counsel dated November 6, 1984 (R 240) (the day Judge Santora denied the motion) and the former ground is not pressed to this Court.

counsel John R. Forbes. Forbes for his part had made it clear to Stevens' post-conviction counsel that he would do everything in his power to have Stevens' motion on that ground denied. Forbes told Stevens' counsel that they were adversaries (R 226, T 240). He refused to meet with defense counsel before the hearing on the post-conviction motion<sup>16</sup> and stated that he would do nothing to assist the defense (<u>Ibid</u>).

In this context the relationship between Forbes and Judge Santora, who would be making findings concerning Forbes' effectiveness, was critically important. Forbes had told post-conviction counsel in 1984 that "Santora is a good buddy of mine" (R 227). In 1979 Forbes had told Stevens that he had a close relationship with Judge Santora and that he frequently saw the judge when he was not on the bench (R 229). In the late 1970's and the early 1980's --- a period which includes Stevens' 1979 trial --- Judge Santora used to drop by Forbes' office late in the afternoon approximately once a week and he and Forbes would then go drinking together (R 501-02, T 149-50).<sup>17</sup> In the mid-1970's Judge Santora and a friend, Forbes and his wife and two others had spent the weekend together on a friend's ranch (R 501, T 149). On another more recent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>. By contrast, Forbes went to the State Attorney's office to be prepared for his testimony <u>before 7:00 a.m.</u> on the day the hearing began (T 236), even though Stevens was calling him as his witness.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>. By the time of the post-conviction hearing Forbes no longer drank alcohol (T 149-50).

occasion the judge was a guest at a party at Forbes' house (R 502).<sup>18</sup>

#### b. The Judge's Extrajudicial Communication

On April 8, 1983 Judge Santora wrote a letter opposing clemency for Stevens when his case came before the Governor and the Cabinet. The body of the judge's letter stated in its entirety (R 223, R 234):

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