IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RUFUS E. STEVENS,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. <u>68,581 & 69,112</u>

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT, FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH MUSZYNSKI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

- 89 -

some derogatory criminal information that had not been picked up (T 452-3; 489-93). The misclassification of a prior criminal conviction **as** a felony was of a minor importance and no consequence. The crime had still occurred.

Similarly, Judge Santora's sentencing order does not manifest a rejection of what non-statutory mitigating evidence there was. The evidence was admitted in the sentencing phase and no doubt evaluated even though it did not fit the statutory framework. Judges are not to be viewed as having erred simply because they do not fully explain their thought processes. In any event, since Judge Santora heard this argument at hearing, he could have acted to correct any penalty-phase error on his part. His rejection of this argument directed at his own thought process in evaluating the mitigting evidence conclusively demonstrates the lack of any merit to Stevens' contention.

ISSUE IV

STEVENS WAS INFORMED OF THE CONTENTS OF THE PSI AND PSYCHIATRIC EXAM; AND STEVENS' CLAIM HAS NO BASIS IN LAW. (Restated).

Stevens was made aware of the contents of his PSI and psychiatric reports, and his claim here is barred as a subsequent change of law and as cognizable only through an ineffectiveness of counsel claim.

Stevens complains here that he did not have an opportunity to reveiw his presentence investigation and psychiatric reports, to the detriment of his constitutional rights. There is no merit to this claim.

At hearing, Mr. Forbes testified that he had discussed the contents of both reports with Stevens, whose testimony was to the contrary. This conflict was resolved by the judge in favor of Mr. Forbes. That determination of the credibility of witnesses was a finding of fact and is supported by substantial evidence. It is not subject to review here.

Moreover, the only genuine case authority for Stevens' claim is <u>Raulerson v. Wainwright</u>, **508** F. Supp. **381** (M.D. Fla. **1980**)-decided after Stevens' trial. In <u>Gardner v. Florida</u>, **430** U.S. **349**, **97** S.Ct. **1197**, **51** L.Ed.2d **393** (**1977**), the United States Supreme Court had held that presentence investigation and psychiatric reports had to be furnished to defense counsel. Relying on Gardner, in Raulerson v. State, **358** So.2d 826 (Fla.

- 91 -

1978), at 831-2, this Court rejected the argument that <u>Gardner</u> required that the defendant himself be furnished those reports, and held that they need only be furnished to defense counsel. In the ensuing federal habeas proceeding, Raulerson v. Wainwright, <u>supra</u>, the sentence was overturned and a new sentencing hearing was ordered.

Stevens' trial and sentencing was <u>before</u> the federal district court's <u>Raulerson</u> decision and <u>after</u> this court's <u>Raulerson</u> decision. The dispositive case law at the time of Stevens' trial and sentencing was thus that the reports need only be provided to defense counsel, not to the defendant directly. Since <u>Raulerson</u> v. Wainwright, <u>supra</u>, was not by its terms retroactive, it can not be applied retroactively on that basis. Neither was that decision a fundamental change in constitutional law entitled to retroactive application under the doctrine of <u>Witt v. State</u>, **387** So.2d **922** (Fla. **1980**). Thus, even if one supposes that Stevens was not apprised of the reports, his claim here is barred as it is procedurally premised on a change of law that is not and can not be applied retroactively.

The trial court found that this claim had been procedurally barred since it could have been raised on appeal, as it had been in <u>Raulerson v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. The trial court was correct. To the extent that Stevens would blame Mr. Forbes for not showing the reports to him at trial, the claim is one of ineffectiveness of counsel and was not properly raised in the trial court. If it

- 92 -

had been raised below, that argument would have failed as counsel can not be held ineffective for failing to anticipate a change in **law.** As for ineffectiveness in not raising the issue in the direct appeal, Mr. Forbes would have found his claim barred as a nonretroactive change in law and as an attempt to impeach his own effectiveness at trial.

There is perhaps a subtle strategen behind Stevens' argument. This Court was right in its reading of Gardner in Raulerson v. State, supra, and the federal court was wrong in Raulerson v. Wainwright, supra. One day that conflict in decisions may be resolved, to this Court's vindication, one hopes and expects. But this case is not a proper occassion to revisit the subject. A decision against Stevens on the grounds that this Court was right in Raulerson v. State, supra, would tempt and give the same federal court in Raulerson v. Wainwright, supra, cause to say again that it was right and grant Stevens relief on that basis. Since this point can and should properly be resolved solely on the other grounds stated above, the Court should do so in order to avoid opening the Gardner issue to unnecessry federal habeas litigation in this case. Stevens' issue here should be rejected as an attempt at applying a change in law retroactively and as procedurally barred.

- 93 -

ISSUE V

THERE WAS NO WITHOLDING OF EVIDENCE BY THE PROSECUTION AND NO <u>BRADY</u> VIOLATION CAN BE SHOWN (Restated).

Stevens alleges here that the dull knife owned by Stevens that the State introduced at trial had been impermissibly obtained, He alleges it was found in a search underneath Stevens' trailer based on information he provided in an illicit interrogation session after the stipulated polygraph session was aborted. In this particular instance, the trial judge found that Mr. Forbes had been properly informed of the origin of the knife by Henry Coxe, an assistant State Attorney who prosecuted Stevens. Stevens, for once, remarkably, believes Mr. Forbes' account that he had not been informed and disbelieves Mr. Coxe's account that he had been informed of the origin of the knife. Assuming, as he does, that Mr. Forbes recollection is to prevail against Mr. Coxe's, recollection and Judge Santora's finding in its favor, Stevens goes on to contend that the State's supposed witholding of the circumstances of the discovery of Stevens' knife was a Brady violation.

Stevens is wrong here for three reasons. First, the court's finding is supported by substantial competent evidence (Mr. Coxe's testimony) and is not subject to being overturned. Second, even a de novo review of the matter shows that Mr. Forbes' was aware at trial of the origin of the knife. Third, even assuming Stevens' account, no <u>Brady</u> violation is shown. The

- 94 -

first counterpoint has already been sufficiently stated, so let us look directly at the available evidence.

At the hearing, Mr, Forbes testified:

Q. [By Mr Root] Mr. Forbes, can you tell the Court whether there was a reason at the time the dull knife recovered from under the Stevens' trailer was put into evidence that you did not object on the gounds that this was a--involved a search and seizure which you had not been told about pursuant to the State's continuing obligation under 3.220, the discovery section?

A. I think I objected to it, but I wasn't aware of that. I guess the manner in which it was found is the reason is all I can speak to you,

Q. Okay. So what you are saying you didn't know that it was the product of a search and seizure at that point?

A. I am reaching back in my memory. My best recollection is that is accurate, yes.

(T 404).

Mr. Coxe's testimony on this issue was:

Q. [Mr. Root] Did you ever tell John Forbes how that knife was found?

A. Mr. Root, I don't independently recall telling Mr. Forbes how it was found. But I can say I couldn't tell you how many times I talked with Mr. Forbes about items of evidence, testimony in the different meetings we had.

I just don't--I couldn't tell you --I don't independently recall wht it ws we talked about any of the times specifically, whether it was this time about knives, this time about experts, whatever.

Q. And as to this specific piece of testimony, you just don't recall whether you told him or not?

A. I can say I am sure I must have but I couldn't tell you I independently recall that conversation right now.

Q. Why do you say you must have if you don't recall?

A. The reason I say that is because, well, two things.

One thing mainly is from looking over portions of transcripts of the trial which assisted me in recalling some of the things.

I recall Mr. Forbes making the argument that he knew where the knife came from and how it came about when he ws objecting to its admissibility.

Now, if it's not in discovery, he either got it from myself or somebody working with me prior to the trial.

Q. Is that the sole basis for your saying that you must have?

A. Yeah, right.

Q. and--

A. That and the fact--

Q. And you were told that Mr. Forbes--

MR. SHAFER: Excuse me, Your Honor. He was answering his question.

Q. I'm sorry. Did I interrup you?

A. I was just going to say that, my review of the transcript, and the fact I had untold discussions with Mr.

Forbes about every facet of this case, about the trial.

(T 806-8).

Based as it was on recollection after reading the trial transcript, Mr. Coxe's testimony sounds more credible even at this remove than Mr. Forbes' tentative account.

Recourse to the trial transcript leaves no doubt that Mr. Forbes' knew at trial that the knife was found as a result of Stevens' statement after the polygraph session:

> MR. FORBES: Your Honor, the evidence he is about to talk about is a product of a statement made, it was found after the statement was made by the defendant in the presence of the polygraph examiner, of which the Court is aware.

MR, COXE: No, he's not going to say anything about the statement.

MR. FORBES: I understand that the defendant during that same statement told him where to find that knife. I filed a Motion in Limine that anything tha was said in that statement not be used in the trial and the Court ruled that it couldn't be except if we put the defendant on the stand and then you can use it in impeachment.

That knife was found as a direct result of that statement that the Court held could not be used against him and, therefore, is inadmissible.

MR. COXE: I want to say a couple of things: the understanding was, the hearing about the statement, we put that knife on discovery. There's no legal basis, agreement or anything about this knife. THE COURT: The motion is denied. (TT 680-1).

There is no basis whatever on which to doubt that Mr. Forbes was told of how the knife was found since he referred **to** those circumstances at the original trial.

Finally, Stevens' legal point here is phony even under his assumptions. <u>Brady</u> is concerned with the "suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable toan accused • • • where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment" <u>Brady</u>, at **218.** Moreover,

We know of no constitutional requirement that the prosecution make a complete and detailed accounting to the defense of all police investigatory work on a case."

More v. Illinois, 408 U.S. 786, 33 L.Ed.2d 706, 92 S.Ct. 2562

(1972), at 713. Indeed:

The mere possibility that an item of undisclosed information might have helped the defense, or might have affected the outcome of the trial, does not establish "materiality" in the constitutional sense.

<u>United States v. Augurs</u>, **427** U.S. **97**, **49** L.Ed.2d **342**, **96** S.Ct. **2392** (1976), at **353**.

Stevens' <u>Brady</u> claim fails in two aspects even when considered under his own rationale. First, the supposedly undisclosed information was not material to the outcome as it would have been of only marginal benefit to the defense at best. Second, it was not evidence suppressed by a State discovery violation but at best information that might have helped the <u>defense</u> suppress State <u>evidence</u>! Stevens' theory is a canard of what <u>Brady</u> actually speaks to, potentially exculpatory evidence suppressed by the State.

Stevens' claim here is without any foundation. The trial court's finding of fact against it can not be overturned as it is supported by substantial evidence, the facts show, even on a <u>de</u> <u>novo</u> examination, that there is nothing to the claim, and no <u>Brady</u> violation is shown even under Stevens' theory.

ISSUE VI

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED NO ERROR IN REFUSING COUNTY PAYMENT FOR (A) PRO BONO COUNSEL'S OUT OF DOCKET EXPENSES.-(B) TRAVEL EXPENSES FOR STEVENS' ADDI-TIONAL MITIGATION WITNESSES, AND (C) FEES AND EXPENSES FOR AN EXPERT WITNESS.

Stevens presents claims here for three items: <u>Pro bono</u> counsel's out of pocket expenses; travel expenses for additional mitigation witnesses; and fees and expenses of Robert Dillinger, Stevens' expert legal witness. There is no basis shown for payment of these items and payment was properly denied by the Court.

In cases where a <u>colorable</u> claim for post-conviction relief is shown, Florida Courts have the authority and duty to appoint counsel to investigate and present the claim, <u>Graham v. State</u>, **372** \$0.2d 1363 (Fla. **1979**), at 1366. However, that is not how present counsel entered the case. He entered as <u>pro bono</u> counsel without appointment, in substituion, as it were, of representation by Florida's Capital Collateral Review attorneys. Perhaps a distinction could be made if Stevens' claims were colorable and Florida Capital Collateral attorneys were somehow unavailable, but neither is the case here. Having assumed the burden of the time and expenses of representing Stevens on a <u>pro bono</u> basis in ouster of state-provided collateral counsel, counel can not fairly demand that the State now pick up the burden of his expenses.

- 100 -

Stevens claimed ineffectiveness by Mr. Forbes in not presenting certain non-statutory mitigation evidence. That claim was fundamentally unsound without regard to the witnesses being pre-Porter v. State, supra. Payment for any witnesses of sented. the type Stevens relied on in that claim would have been improper. In fact, two mitigation witness were presented by Stevens, and both gave testimony that of no value to his claim and would have likely been harmful if used at trial. One witness testified that Stevens had been in a fight with her son, rebutting the defense characterization of Stevens as a goodnatured soul; the other witness testified, contrary to the defense theory, that he did not have a drinking problem, and otherwise gave testimony that could have been used to show his planning of the convenience store robbery. The other witnesses were more limited and remote in their knowledge of Stevens, and there is no showing their testimony could have been helpful. The trial court properly denied payment for a parade of worthless additional mitigation witnesses in support of a fundamentally unsound claim.

As for Robert Dillinger's claim, it was also properly denied. Stevens never made a colorable claim of ineffectiveness of counsel. Mr. dillinger's testimony was nothing but the hindsight, second-guessing accout of how <u>he</u> would have done differently than Mr. Forbes. Mr. Dillinger's testimony was worthless even to Stevens. Most likely, Mr. Dillinger's "expert

- 101 -

testimony" was a sham, bringing him to the side of Stevens' counsel at the hearing so as to assist them, then putting him on the stand and claiming him as an expert so as to justify **a** reimbursement of expenses and a fee for his volunteer excursion. There is no basis for a fee and expenses for Mr. Dillinger, and the court properly denied his claim for them. The trial court's denial of the expense and fee claims should be upheld.

ISSUE VII

DEATH-SCRUPLED JURORS WERE IMPROPERLY EXCUSED.

ISSUE VIII

FLORIDA'S HOMICIDE AND DEATH PENALTY STATUTES ARE ADMINISTERED IN A DISCRIMINATORY MANNER.

ISSUE IX

THE LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE JURY INSTRUCTIONS REQUIRED AT THE TIME OF TRIAL LED TO ARBITRARY RESULTS.

ISSUE X

BASED UPON HIS CONVICTION ON A FELONY MURDER THEORY, STEVENS' SENTENCE VIOLATED THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT.

These federal constitutional law claims could have been raised at trial. They were not, and hence were procedurally defaulted. They may not be raised in this post-conviction relief proceeding. <u>Straight v. State</u>, **488** So.2d **530** (Fla. **1986**); McRae <u>v. State</u>, **437** So.2d **1388** (Fla. **1983**). Neither has any <u>funda-</u> <u>mental</u> change of constitutional law occured which could make these claims cognizable today. <u>See Witt v. State</u>, **387** So.2d 922 (Fla. **1980**). All these claims should be summarily rejected on the basis of procedural default.

CONCLUSION

Judge Santora's denial of the motion for disqualification was correct and should be affirmed. His denial of Stevens' motion for post-conviction relief was correct and should be affirmed.